
 

 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
JASPER COUNTY, GEORGIA 

REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 
September 9, 2019 

6:00 p.m. 
Commissioner’s Meeting Room – Ground Floor Ste. 16 

MONTICELLO, GEORGIA 
 

I. Call to Order (6:00 p.m.)                                  
NAME PRESENT ABSENT LATE ARRIVED 

DISTRICT 1 – CARL PENNAMON, CHAIR     
DISTRICT 2 – BRUCE HENRY, VICE-CHAIR     
DISTRICT 3 – DON JERNIGAN     
DISTRICT 4 – GERALD STUNKEL     
DISTRICT 5  - DOUG LUKE     
  
 II.     Pledge of Allegiance –       

III.    Invocation – District 1 
         
 IV.    Approval of Agenda 
                    
 V.      Consent Agenda –  
1.  Approval of Minutes: 

 Regular Meeting Minutes August 5, 2019 
 

2.   Check Register – Check #’s 55938-56214 
 

VI.   Public Hearing  
 
Public Hearings are conducted to allow public comments on specific advertised issues such as rezoning, 
ordinances, policy development and other legislative actions to be considered by the County 
Commissioners.  Following the public hearing, the Board of Commissioners will take action on each 
item presented below.  
 
 
 
 

 
 
VIII. Presentations/Delegations –  

Presentation/Delegations allows scheduled speakers to address the Commission for not more than ten 
(10) minutes on specific topics or for recognition of citizens,  county employees or other events by the 
Commissioners.   

 
IX.   Regular Agenda 
 
Old Business:   

None 

VII. County Commissioner Items 



 

 

 
New Business: 

1. Jasper County Recreation Board Appointments  
2. 2019 ACCG Legislative Leadership Conference Delegate Appointment 
3. Complete Count Committee Chairman and Vice Chairman Appointments 
4. Development Authority of Walton County OneGeorgia Authority Equity Application   

Support Letter 
5. FY 2019 Audit Engagement Approval 
6. FY 2019 Year End Budget Amendments 
7. Public Works Dump Truck Bid Award 
8. Impact Fees Program and 2019 CIE Update 
 

 X.   County Attorney Items 
 
 XI.   County Manager Update 

 
XII.   Citizen Comments  

The Citizens Comments section of the Agenda allows citizens who sign up to address the Commission for 
not more than three (3) minutes on specific topics.   The County Attorney will keep time.  Please be 
courteous of the 3 minute time limit. 

 
XIII. Executive Session 
        
Consultation with County attorney to discuss pending or potential litigation as provided by O.C.G.A.  
§50-14-2(1); Discussion of the future acquisition of real   estate as provided by O.C.G.A. §50-14-3(4); 
and, discussion on employment, compensation, or periodic evaluation of county employees as provided 
in O.C.G.A. § 50-14-3(6)  
 
   XIV. Adjournment  
 
  



 

 

Consent Agenda – Item 1 
 
Agenda Request – Jasper County BOC 
 
Department:  Board of Commissioners 
 
Date:  September 9, 2019 
 
Subject:  Approval of Minutes 
 
Summary: 
Minutes have been completed for the Jasper County Board of Commissioners: 
 

 Regular Meeting Minutes August 5, 2019 
 
 

Background: 
 
 
Cost:  $0 
 
 
Recommended Motion: 
Approve minutes for:  
 

 Regular Meeting Minutes August 5, 2019 
  



Jasper County Board of Commissioners Meeting Minutes August 5, 2019 – Regular Meeting  
 

  Jasper County Board of Commissioners 

August 5, 2019 

Regular Meeting Minutes 

6:00 P.M. 

Comm. Pennamon called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m. 

Commissioners Present: Chairman, Carl Pennamon, Vice-Chairman, Bruce Henry, Don Jernigan, Gerald 
Stunkel, and Doug Luke. 

Staff Present: Mike Benton, County Manager, Clerk, Sharon Robinson, Finance Director, Dennis Pate, and 
County Attorney, David Ozburn.  

Pledge of Allegiance: 

Invocation: 

Doug Luke, District 5 

Agenda Approval: 

Comm. Henry made motion approve the agenda with the change to move New Business item #2, 911 Authority 
Phone System to Item #7 under New Business as suggested by Commissioner Pennamon, Comm. Stunkel 
seconded; passed unanimously. 

Consent Agenda: 

Minutes:  

Comm. Jernigan made motion to approve the Called Meeting Minutes of May 23, 2019, Called Meeting Minutes 
for May 30, 2019, Public Hearing Meetings, June 20, 2019 10:00AM, Called Meeting Minutes and Public Hearing 
Minutes June 20, 2019, Called Meeting Minutes of June 27, 2019, and Regular Meeting Minutes, July 1, 2019, 
and Called Meeting Minutes, July 11, 2019; Comm. Luke seconded; passed unanimously. 

Check Register: 

Comm. Jernigan made motion to approve the check register which included Check #’s 55646 - 55937 for 
payment, Commissioner Stunkel seconded; passed unanimously. 

Public Hearing: 

Nuisance Party/ Nuisance Party Location Ordinance- First Reading –  
 
Commissioner Luke motioned to go into a Public hearing at 6:05 pm on the Ordinance, Commissioner Stunkel 
seconded the motion, passed unanimously.  
 
Shane Sealy presented the ordinance which was heard by the Planning board on Thursday, August 1, 2019. The 
Planning board recommended approval with some stipulations. Sealy noted the stipulations in the ordinance. 



Jasper County Board of Commissioners Meeting Minutes August 5, 2019 – Regular Meeting  
 

The board requested that the word “and” be removed on the second line under Division one Nuisance Party. 
Another one was removing the word “which” on the last line of Division One Nuisance Party. Another one was 
Ordinance four Matter with current Code & Municode. The “divisions” would be changed to “sections” to 
match the ordinance.  Mr. Sealy further noted, if approved after 2nd reading; the Ordinance will be added to 
Municode within 30 days of approval. 
 
Tom Joye, Chairman of the Chamber of Commerce spoke in favor of the ordinance.  
No one spoke against the ordinance.  
 
Commissioner Jernigan made the motion to close the Public Hearing and return the regular meeting at 6:10 
p.m.; Commissioner Henry seconded the motion, passed unanimously.  
 
Commissioner’s Items: 
Jernigan- None 

Henry- None 

Stunkel – None 

Pennamon- None 

Luke – Ask for an update regarding Rainbow Drive.  

Mr. Benton stated that the street would be added to the list for this year.  

Presentations/Delegations: None 

Regular Agenda: 

Old Business: None 

New Business: 

Alcohol License Application- Retail sales for Beer Hwy 16 Food Mart (formerly Sac-O-Suds) – Applicant- 
Ahmed Merchant, Corporation Name: Sean Hwy 16 Properties LLC: 

Mr. Sealy stated that this is Application 2019-A-011. Mr. Ahmed Merchant applied for retail sales of beer. The 
address of the business is 54 Hwy 16 West. The background check performed by the Sheriff’s department came 
back clean.  

Commissioner Luke motioned to Approve the alcohol license application #2019-A-011for retail sales of beer for 
Hwy 16 Food Mart as requested. Commissioner Henry seconded the motion, passed unanimously.  

Approval to Advertise for Board Appointments: Central Georgia Region 5 Emergency Medical Services 
Council and Oconee Community Service Board:  
 
Commissioner Jernigan motioned to authorize staff to advertise the open appointment positions for the Central 
Georgia Region 5 Emergency Services Council and the Oconee Community Service Board, and to approve the 
appointments at the next meeting. Commissioner Stunkel seconded the motion, passed unanimously.  
 
Senior Center Budget Amendments for FY 2019:  



Jasper County Board of Commissioners Meeting Minutes August 5, 2019 – Regular Meeting  
 

 
Commissioner Luke motioned to approve the budget amendments totaling $6881.00 for the FY2019 Senior 
Center Budget as presented, Commissioner Stunkel seconded the motion, passed unanimously.  
 
Intergovernmental Agreement- Board of Registrars of Jasper County and the City of Monticello: 
 
Commissioner Jernigan made motion to authorize the Chairman to sign the Intergovernmental Agreement 
between the Board of Registrars of Jasper County and the City of Monticello for 2019 Election Services as 
presented. Commissioner Luke seconded the motion, passed unanimously.  
 

Recreation Department Soft Drinks Marketing Proposals: 

Roger Minter was introduced as the new Recreation Director.  Mr. Minter explained the offer from Coke to the 
Board noting, some of the proposal highlights. The Coke proposal is a 7 year contract. Coke will give us $1 rebate 
on each case that is purchased by the Rec department, calculated at 500 cases a year. They would give $400 in 
marketing support (signs, advertising, park rules, concession menus, and field identifications). $17,572 and four 
scoreboards. Mr. Minter read an email from Mr. Nick Benton who services the scoreboards, which summarized 
that the current scoreboards are out of date and costly to repair. Many of the parts are hard to find. The 5 year 
plan is $15,000. Scoreboard installation would cost $1,000. 

Mr. Benton mentioned that Coke is willing to give more money than Pepsi, although Pepsi presented a higher 
rebate. Choosing Pepsi would cost us more, just because we would have to remove existing Coke signage.  

Commissioner Jernigan made motion to Authorize Chairman to sign 7 year contract with Coca Cola with the 
marketing proposal as presented. Commissioner Henry seconded the motion, passed unanimously. 

2020 LMIG Application:  

Mr. Benton stated that we need road designations for the 2020 LMIG program. Commissioner Luke suggested 
that we stay the course and complete Post Road.  

Commissioner Jernigan made motion to add Eagle Drive to the list. Commissioner Stunkel seconded the motion, 
3-2 vote. Motion failed.  

Chairman Pennamon called for another motion.  

Commissioner Stunkel made motion that we stay with Post Road this year and Eagle Drive in the alternate year, 
Commissioner Jernigan seconded the motion. Commissioner Luke stated that he would suggest to get suggestions 
from the county Engineer after some studies to see which roads needs repairs first. Commissioner Stunkel 
withdrew the motion.  

Commissioner Luke made motion that we continue with Post Road, seconded by Commissioner Henry, passed 
unanimously.  

911 Authority Phone System Update: 

Ms. Betty Jump gave some history on their phone system. It has not been updated since 2008 and the Zetron 3200 
system is obsolete.  



Jasper County Board of Commissioners Meeting Minutes August 5, 2019 – Regular Meeting  
 

 

County Attorney Items: 

None 

County Manager Items:  

Mr. Benton noted Goolsby Road has been completed. Shepard Road has been striped but there is one issue that 
he is working to have it corrected. Pitts Chapel Road Bridge, engineer has been assigned (Robert Roland). We 
have received tractors for Public Works. 

Citizens Comments:  
Chris Blakely- Builders are not abiding by silt fence rules. It has been brought to multiple people’s attention. 
He complained that Planning & Zoning is a joke. He has lost a lot of money fixing things on his property. He 
states that he is going to propose to EPD to have Jasper County taken off the LIA. 
 
Sandra Carter- Thanked the board for their support of the 911 center.  
 
Executive Session: 

Comm. Jernigan made motion to go into Executive Session at 7:03 p.m. to discuss real estate. Commissioner 
Henry seconded; passed unanimously. 

Comm. Jernigan made motion to come out of Executive Session at   7:58 p.m., Comm. Stunkel seconded; 
passed unanimously. 

Adjourn: 

Comm. Stunkel made motion to adjourn at 7:59 p.m., Comm. Henry seconded; passed unanimously. 

 

 

___________________________ 

Carl Pennamon, Chairman 

 

___________________________ 

Sharon Robinson, Clerk 



 

 

Consent Agenda – Item 2: 
 
Agenda Request – Jasper County BOC 
 
Department:  Board of Commissioners 
 
Date:  September 9, 2019 
 
Subject:  Approval of Check Register 
 
Summary: 
A check register will be generated by the finance department on meeting day for signature and approval to 
process the checks. 
 
Background: 
 
Cost:  $0 
 
 
Recommended Motion: 
Approve processing of check #’s 55938-56214 
 
 



 

 

New Business – Item 1: 
 
Agenda Request – Jasper County BOC 
 
Department: Recreation 
 
Date:   September 9, 2019 
 
Subject: Jasper County Recreation Board Appointments 
 
 
Summary:  
  
Jasper County Recreation Board has four vacant positions. The terms are for 3-year terms and will expire July 
2022. The open positions were advertised and the following people have expressed interest. 
 
Chrissy Mason 
Johnathan Green 
Valarie Bennett 
Ed Jernigan 
 
 
Background:  
 
The Jasper County Recreation Board amended their bylaws in February, 2019 increasing their directors from 7 
to 9 members.  
 
Valarie Bennett and Patrick Diaz were appointed in December 2018 to fill vacant positions that expired in July 
2019. 
Ed Jernigan was appointed in April 2019 to fill a vacant position that expired in July 2019.  
Robert Norton resigned his position that expired in July 2019. 
 
Currently, the Jasper County Recreation Board has 4 vacancies with a terms that will expire in July 2022.  
 
 
 
Cost:  None 
 
 
Recommended Motion:  
Appoint Chrissy Mason, Johnathan Green, Valarie Bennett and Ed Jernigan to serve on the Recreation 
Board for a 3-year term ending July 2022. 
 
  





From: Jonathan Green
To: Sharon Robinson
Subject: Rec Board
Date: Wednesday, September 04, 2019 1:54:26 PM

I would like to join the Recreation Board

Jonathan Green
6th Grade Social Studies
Jasper County Middle School

mailto:jmgreen@jasper.k12.ga.us
mailto:srobinson@jaspercountyga.org






 

 

New Business – Item 2: 
 
Agenda Request – Jasper County BOC 
 
Department: Board of Commissioners 
 
Date:   September 9, 2019 
 
Subject: 2019 ACCG Legislative Leadership Conference Delegate Appointment 
 
 
Summary:  
 
ACCG is holding its Legislative Leadership Conference on October 3, 2019 at the Classic Center in Athens, 
GA. 
 
The ACCG 2020 Legislative Agenda and Priorities will be voted on during the Conference. 
 
Find attached the 2020 ACCG Policy Committee’s Proposed Policy Agenda. 
 
Background:  
 
The Association County Commissioners of Georgia represents the interests of County Governments during each 
Georgia Legislative Session. 
 
 
 
Cost:   
 
None 
 
 
 
Recommended Motion:  
 
Motion to appoint one Commissioner as the Jasper County Delegate to the 2019 ACCG Legislative Leadership 
Conference on October 3, 2019. 
  















 

 

New Business – Item 3: 
 
Agenda Request – Jasper County BOC 
 
Department: Board of Commissioners 
 
Date:   September 9, 2019 
 
Subject: Complete Count Committee Chairman and Vice Chairman Appointments 
 
Summary:  
 
Census participation is important for everyone due to many factors such as funding programs and functions that 
are based on US Census data. 
 
Funding Programs and Functions include: 
Federal Funding Programs 
State Funding Programs 
U.S. Congressional Redistricting 
State Legislature Redistricting 
Local Government Redistricting 
 
One primary method of encouraging census participation is through the utilization of a Complete Count 
Committee comprised of local residents, business leaders and government personnel. 
 
One method of organizing a Complete Count Committee is thru appointing a Chair and Vice Chair with the task 
of assembling a diverse committee. 
 
The Northeast Georgia Regional Commission is conducting a Complete Count Committee Information Session 
on Friday, October 11, 2019 at the NEGRC Headquarters in Athens, GA. 
 
Background:  
 
The United Constitution requires a nationwide census to be conducted every ten years. 
 
The Official Census Day is April 1, 2020. 
 
 
Cost:   
 
To be determined 
 
 
Recommended Motion:  
Motion to appoint Carole Norris as Chair and Sharon Robinson as Vice Chair of Jasper County’s Complete 
Count Committee. 
  





 

 

New Business – Item 4: 
 
Agenda Request – Jasper County BOC 
 
Department: Board of Commissioners 
 
Date:   September 9, 2019 
 
Subject: Development Authority of Walton County OneGeorgia Authority Equity Application   
 Support Letter 
 
 
Summary:  
  
The Development Authority of Walton County is asking for Jasper County support for its OneGeorgia Equity 
application that will assist in the project to extend the Piedmont Parkway through the Piedmont Regional 
Industrial Park located in Walton County. 
 
 
Background:  
 
The OneGeorgia Authority is a State of Georgia Public Authority that assists in rural economic development. 
 
 
 
Cost:   
 
None 
 
 
 
Recommended Motion:  
 
Motion to authorize Chairman to execute the Support Letter as presented which states Jasper County supports 
the OneGeorgia Equity application submitted by the Development Authority of Walton County for its Piedmont 
Parkway Extension Project. 
  



Board of Commissioners 
of Jasper County 

 Carl Pennamon 
Bruce Henry 
Don Jernigan 
Gerald Stunkel 
Doug Luke 

 
 

Mike Benton 
County Manager 

Courthouse 
126 West Greene Street, Suite 18 

Monticello, GA 31064 
Phone (706)468-4900   Fax (706)468-4942 

 
 
 
  

 

 
August 22, 2019 
Mrs. Anna Hensley, Executive Director 
OneGeorgia Authority 
Georgia Department of Community Affairs 
60 Executive Park South, NE 
Atlanta, Georgia 30329-2231 
 
RE: Development Authority of Walton County 

2019 OneGeorgia Authority Equity Application 
 Piedmont Regional Industrial Park Parkway Extension  
 
Dear Mrs. Hensley: 
 
As a OneGeorgia Eligible County, Jasper County wishes to extend support for the OneGeorgia 
Equity application being submitted by the Development Authority of Walton County. This 
project will extend Piedmont Parkway through the Piedmont Regional Industrial Park, creating a 
main entrance, allowing a business to expand its operations and allow for the location of two 
new prospects. The Parkway extension will also allow for more land in the park to be opened up 
for new business. 
 
Piedmont Regional Industrial Park is a valuable asset for our region, and is the home of several 
large scale employers. Because of its central location, it provides many jobs to people, including 
residents of Jasper County, and now, with this proposed extension, it has the capacity to provide 
even more jobs for our region.  
 
As this project will bring a great benefit to the region, Jasper County is in full support. Thank 
you for your consideration of this project and its potential for economic prosperity in the region. 
 
 
 
 
Carl Pennamon  
Chairman 
 
CC:  Mr. Shane Short, Executive Director, DAWC 
 



 

 

New Business – Item 5: 
 
Agenda Request – Jasper County BOC 
 
Department: Finance 
 
Date:   September 9, 2019 
 
Subject: FY 2019 Audit Engagement Approval 
 
 
Summary:  
 
Jasper County Board of Commissioners operates County activities on a Fiscal Year Basis beginning July 1 and 
ending June 30 of each year. 
 
The State of Georgia requires each County to submit a completed audit within six months of the completion of 
the Fiscal Year. 
 
Jasper County Board of Commissioners needs to contract for auditing services for the Fiscal Year just ended 
July 1, 2018 thru June 30, 2019. 
 
The audit firm of Clifton, Lipford, Hardison & Parker have submitted an engagement proposal for auditing the 
Fiscal Year July 1, 2018 thru June 30, 2019. 
 
 
Background:  
 
Jasper County Board of Commissioners are required by State regulations to contract with an independent audit 
firm to conduct an annual audit of County financial statements of governmental activities, business type 
activities and component units. 
 
 
 
Cost:   
 
Fee for services - $28,000 - $35,000  
 
Final cost based on condition of accounting records. 
 
 
Recommended Motion:  
 
Motion to approve Chairman Pennamon to execute the audit engagement letter from Clifton, Lipford, Hardison 
& Parker for auditing services for Jasper County Board of Commissioners’ Fiscal Year beginning July 1, 2018 
and ending June 30, 2019. 
  



















 

 

New Business – Item 6: 
 
Agenda Request – Jasper County BOC 
 
Department: Finance 
 
Date:   September 9, 2019 
 
Subject: FY 2019 Year End Budget Amendments 
 
 
Summary:  
  
Finance has prepared budget amendments for FY2019 for approval for the following departments: 
 
County Extension - # 2019.09.09 A - $18.00 (Fund Balance) 
District Attorney - # 2019.09.09 B - $12.00 (Fund Balance) 
Executive - # 2019.09.09 C - $120.00 (Fund Balance) 
Government Buildings - # 2019.09.09 D - $3,143.00 (Fund Balance) 
Jail and Courthouse Security - # 2019.09.09 E - $57,500.00 - (offset by available Sheriff Budget) 
Juvenile Court - # 2019.09.09 F - $771.00 (offset by available Superior Court Budget) 
Magistrate Court - # 2019.09.09 G - $8,540.00 (Fund Balance) 
Planning and Zoning - # 2019.09.09 H - $4,700.00 (offset by increased P&Z Revenue) 
Registrar - # 2019.09.09 I - $824.00 (offset by available elections Budget) 
Tax Commissioner - # 2019.09.09 J - $1,244.00 (Fund Balance) 
Senior Center: 

 # 2019.09.09 K - $9,752.34 
 # 2019.09.09 L - $134.00 
 # 2019.09.09 M - $2,496.77 
 # 2019.09.09 N - $1,490.47 (Net to Fund Balance for Senior Center) 

 
 
Background: 
  
 
 
Cost: 
 
The net amount to come out of Fund Balance is $14,567.47 
 
 
 
Recommended Motion(s): 
Approve FY2019 fiscal year end budget amendments #’s 2019.09.09 A – N as presented with the net amount of 
$14,567.47 to come out of fund balance. 
  
 
 
 































 

 

New Business - Item 7: 
 
Agenda Request – Jasper County BOC 
 
Department: Roads and Bridges 
 
Date:   September 9, 2019 
 
Subject: Public Works Dump Truck Bid Award 
 
 
Summary:  
 
Received bids for three new tandem dump trucks and one used tandem dump truck. 
 
Rush Truck New 2019 International Model HV613 SBA $131,546.70 Available Now 
  Warranty 60 Months, 300,000 Miles   Included 
 
Rush Truck New 2020 International Model HV607 SBA $111,759.53 120 Days 
  Extended Warranty 5 Years/200,000 Miles Add $7540.00 
        Total $119,299.53 
   
Peach State New 2020 Western Star Model 4700SF  $137,492.00 September 27, 2019 
  Extended Warranty 5 Years/300,000 Miles Add $3300.00 
         $140,792.00 
 
Nextran Used 2016 Mack Model GU813   $128,000.00 Available Now 
  Additional Warranty Until September 2021 Add $7675.00 
        Total  $135,675.00 
 
  
 
 
Background:  
 
Public Works is in need of one additional tandem dump truck. 
 
 
Cost:   
 
Based on specific truck purchased 
 
Funded with 2012 SPLOST 
 
 
Recommended Motion:  
 
Board Discretion 
  



































 

 

New Business - Item 8: 
 
Agenda Request – Jasper County BOC 
 
Department: Board of Commissioners 
 
Date:   September 9, 2019 
 
Subject: Impact Fees Program and 2019 CIE Update 
 
 
Summary:  
  
The Department of Community Affairs requires a periodic review of a County’s Impact Fee Program.  
 
Jasper County is currently reviewing the overall application of its Impact Fee Program including the applicable 
Public Facilities Projects and Revenue Allocation. 
 
The Department of Community Affairs also requires each County that participates in the Impact Fee Program to 
submit an annual Capital Improvement Element to its Comprehensive Plan in order to remain compliant with 
the State of Georgia. 
 
Compliance requirements include the following annual submittals to the Department of Community Affairs: 
Annual Impact Fee Financial Report 
Report of Accomplishments 
Impact Fee Capital Improvement Project List 
Short Term Work Program 
 
 
Background:  
 
Jasper County participates in the Georgia Development Impact Fee Program. 
 
The program is designed to ensure adequate public facilities are available to serve new growth and development 
by requiring the new growth and development entities pay a proportionate share of the cost of the additional 
public facilities. 
 
Jasper County requires each person or business to pay am Impact Fee of $1376.70 for each new building permit. 
 
Cost:   
 
None 
 
Recommended Motion:  
Board Discretion 
 
 

 












